## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1458 Lower Tribunal Case No.: 83-361-CF

DAVID A. GORE, Petitioner/Appellant

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent/Appellee

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ANDREW A. GRAHAM, ESQUIRE GRAHAM, MOLETTEIRE & TORPY 10 Suntree Place Melbourne, FL 32940 Phone: (321) 253-3405

Fax: (321) 242-6121 Bar No.: 0218871

# **

# **INTRODUCTION**

References to the record of the penalty phase retrial are preceded by the letter "R." References to the record of the post conviction proceedings are proceeded by the letters "CP."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 5, 1998, the Supreme Court of the United States denied Mr. Gore a certiorari review of this Court's decision upholding imposition of the death penalty. *See, Gore v. Florida*, 525 U.S. 892 (1998); *and Gore v. State*, 706 So.2d 1328 Fla. 1997). After this denial, counsel for collateral proceedings was appointed on March 11, 1999. CP 1, 2. Gore's Motion for Post Conviction Relief was then filed on September 30, 1999. CP 93-189. An Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief was filed on January 8, 2002, following the production of large numbers of public records. CP 248-313. In his Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief, Gore raised the following issues:

- 1. Improper and incomplete instruction to the jury regarding Gore's future parole eligibility, including a violation of *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), due to false testimony given by Robert Stone, the former state prosecutor.
- 2. <u>Ex parte</u> communications between the trial court and the prosecutor.
- 3. Ineffective assistance of counsel, including:
  - a) The decision and effect of calling Mr. Stone as a defense witness at the penalty phase retrial without conducting any discovery regarding his testimony;
  - b) Failure to propose an expanded jury instruction on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator;

- c) Failure to discover and expose financial bias of the state's mental health expert;
- d) Failure to investigate and present mitigation evidence of Gore's toxic chemical exposure; and
- e) Failure to investigate and present evidence of the abusive relationship between Gore and his mother. (This allegation was withdrawn prior to the evidentiary hearing.)
- 4. Violations of *Giglio, supra*, and *Nadue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), by the prosecution for knowing failure to correct the false testimony of Mr. Stone regarding Gore's future parole eligibility.
- 5. A jury impermissibly tainted by biased jurors.
- 6. Failure by the trial court to instruct the jury that Gore would serve 50 years prior to being considered for parole.
- 7. Unconstitutionality of the death penalty as applied because it is unreliable and arbitrary.

#### CP 248-313.

Thereafter, the trial court permitted Gore further to amend his Rule 3.850 Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief to raise the argument that, on the basis of *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), the Florida sentencing scheme deprived Gore of his Sixth Amendment right to a jury determination of aggravating factors. CP 584-634. This Amendment to the Amended Motion was filed on November 19, 2002. CP 681-684.

In its order after the *Huff* hearing, the lower court denied Claims 1, 2, 3(b), 4, 5, 6, and 7, and agreed to an evidentiary hearing on Gore's remaining claims. CP 695-745. These claims included issues regarding the following matters:

- a) the testimony of Robert Stone,
- b) financial bias on the part of the State's mental health expert,
- c) mitigation evidence of toxic chemical exposure, and
- d) failure of defense counsel to call a witness who could properly explain

  Gore's future parole eligibility.

Following an evidentiary hearing on July 21, 2003, on these issues, CP 768-958, the trial court denied all of Gore's remaining claims on June 14, 2004. This appeal was timely filed. CP 991-998.

References to the record of the penalty phase retrial are preceded by the letter "R." References to the record of the post conviction proceedings are proceeded by the letters "CP."

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The underlying facts of the crime in this case were set forth in detail in two prior opinions of this Court. *See, Gore v. State*, 475 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1985); *and Gore v. State*, 706 So.2d 1328 (Fla. 1997). Therein, this Court summarized the facts which resulted in Gore's sentence of death for the murder of Lynn Elliot, two life sentences for the kidnappings of Regan Martin and Lynn Elliot, and three life sentences for sexual battery of the two victims.

Gore and his cousin Freddy Waterfield kidnapped the two teenage girls on July 26, 1983. Both victims were raped and terrorized; Lynn Elliot was murdered by Gore while trying to escape her captor. After a 1984 jury trial, Gore was sentenced to death for the murder. In addition, two concurrent life sentences were imposed for the kidnappings to be served consecutively to the death sentence, and three concurrent life sentences were imposed for sexual battery to be served consecutively to both the death sentence and the two other life sentences. *See, Gore v. State*, 706 So.2d 1328 (Fla. 1997). This Court affirmed these sentences in 1985. *See, Gore v. State*, 475 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1985).

In 1989, the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida reversed Gore's death sentence, in accordance with *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), and *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 589 (1978), for failure to permit Gore to

present non-statutory mitigating circumstances. That court remanded to the trial court for a sentencing retrial. *See, Gore v. Dugger*, 763 F. Supp. 1110 (M.D. Fla. 1989). The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed this decision. *See, Dugger v. Gore*, 933 F.2d 904 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991).

The sentencing retrial occurred in November 1992, again resulting in a death sentence for the 1983 murder of Lynn Elliot. This Court affirmed in 1997. *See, Gore v. State*, 706 So.2d 1328 (Fla. 1997). Following denial of certiorari by the Supreme Court of the United States, counsel was appointed for this collateral proceeding on March 11, 1999. Motions to vacate Gore's death sentence culminated in an evidentiary hearing on July 21, 2003, during which seven witnesses testified and evidence was introduced as follows.

Robert G. Udell, Esq., testified that he was appointed by the trial court to represent Mr. Gore at his sentencing retrial, and that this may have been his first penalty phase in a capital case. CP 776. He further testified that Attorney Jerome "Jay" Nickerson, volunteer co-counsel through this proceeding, "took the lead," and that Mr. Udell actually considered himself to be "second chair." CP 780, 801. At the conclusion of the sentencing retrial, Mr. Udell was compensated for his efforts by the trial court but Mr. Nickerson was not. CP 781.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Udell agreed with collateral counsel that Mr. Gore's school records and medical records should have been introduced for the jury to consider at the penalty phase retrial. CP 785. Mr. Udell also stated that he never understood why the original prosecutor in the 1984 murder trial, Robert Stone, Esq., was called as a defense witness at the penalty phase retrial, CP 788-789, or why this witness was never deposed or interviewed by defense counsel CP 793. Mr. Udell acknowledged that Mr. Stone was not prior to testifying. CP 792-793, but stated that the entire issue was "way friendly to Mr. Gore, above my head." CP 798. When questioned, Mr. Udell had no idea why defense counsel failed to move to strike Juror Tobin for cause, given the obvious bias he exhibited during voir dire. CP 801. He stated: "I was sitting second chair, Jay [Nickerson] picked this jury." CP 801. Mr. Udell further testified that undiscovered evidence regarding the state's mental health expert's bill, and how often this expert testified for the prosecution, was ". . . clearly evidence of bias." CP 805.

Mr. Stone, the former prosecutor who had previously been called as a defense witness at the penalty phase retrial, also testified. He stated that after being subpoenaed by defense counsel, he met with the prosecutor to discuss his testimony, including Gore's future parole eligibility, but had no contact of any kind with the defense prior to testifying at the sentencing retrial. CP 825, 826, 827. Mr.

Stone admitted that in 1992, at the penalty phase retrial, he had no knowledge of the Parole Commission's guidelines, regulations or procedures with regard to parole eligibility, and still had no knowledge of that information. CP 829, 830.

Thelma Gore, Mr. Gore's mother, testified regarding mitigation evidence that had not been presented during his penalty sentencing retrial. Her testimony included Gore's many childhood illnesses, poor academic performance, and his long-term exposure to toxic chemicals used on the citrus groves in Indian River County during the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s. CP 830-854. She also testified regarding the family's consumption of fish and wildlife from the groves and irrigation canals near their home. CP 836-837.

Dorothy Stokes, Gore's aunt, also testified regarding his constant exposure to toxic agricultural chemicals throughout childhood. She testified that five of Mr. Gore's male cousins who grew up or worked in close proximity to the industrial citrus groves had died from cancer, and others had been made very ill by agricultural chemicals. CP 855-862.

Dr. Herbert Nigg, a professor with the University of Florida and an entomologist versed in toxicology and biochemistry, testified as to the agricultural chemicals commonly used in the citrus industry during the 1960s and 1970s. His testimony included a comparison of those chemicals with the more environmentally benign ones currently in use. CP 866-867. Dr. Joseph Napp, a

professor emeritus with the Ecology Department at the University of Florida, also testified. CP 922. During his twenty-five (25) year career with the University of Florida, his duties included evaluation of pesticides for the Florida citrus industry. CP 922. These experts testified that chemicals commonly used on citrus groves in Indian River County during the time period in question included lead arsenate; chlorinated hydrocarbons (DDT); organo phosphate insecticides; DDE; DDD; Aldrin; Dieldrin; Heptachlor; Ethion; Chlordane; Calthane; parathion; Malathion; and Dursban. CP 867-870, 922-927. All of these chemical compounds are now banned from use except Malathion and Dursban. CP 927. Dr. Napp further testified that chlorinated hydrocarbons, which are in the same class as DDT, and lead arsenate were persistent in the environment. CP 927, 928.

The last witness was David Chestnut, Esq., a Board Certified civil trial lawyer who had been practicing for twenty-two (22) years in the Nineteenth Circuit. He testified that it was professional malpractice to fail to expose the state's mental health expert's bias to the jury by failing to elicit testimony concerning his compensation and the particulars of his employment. CP 941.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Ι

THE PROSECUTION KNOWINGLY ELICITED FALSE TESTIMONY REGARDING THE POSSIBILITY OF FUTURE PAROLE AND THEN FAILED TO CORRECT SUCH TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF GIGLIO v. UNITED STATES, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), AND NADUE v. ILLINOIS, 360 U.S. 264 (1959).

Defendant argues that the testimony elicited by the prosecution that defendant could be released on parole "at any time" is a *Giglio v. U.S.*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and *Nadue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), violation by eliciting knowingly false testimony and refusing to correct it when the evidence was material and clearly affected the finder of fact as indicated by the jury's questions herein.

II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THE DEFENDANT WOULD BE REQUIRED TO SERVE 50 YEARS BEFORE HE WAS ELIGIBLE FOR PAROLE CONSIDERATION.

The trial court should have truthfully instructed the jury that if Gore were to receive a life sentence in this case he would not be eligible for parole consideration for 50 years from the date of his arrest.

#### III and IV

EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN PROSECUTOR AND TRIAL JUDGE WERE IMPROPER AND REQUIRE A NEW SENTENCING TRIAL.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF GORE'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE TRIAL JUDGE BECAUSE HE WAS A MATERIAL WITNESS TO THE EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS.

Defendant argues that the prosecutor and judge below engaged in <u>ex parte</u> communications which compromised the trial court's duty to independently weigh aggravators and mitigating factors, and that the court should have granted defendant's motion to disqualify himself from the collateral proceedings because he was a material witness to the ex parte communications.

 $\mathbf{V}$ 

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL RENDERED THE RESULT OF THE PENALTY RETRIAL BELOW "UNRELIABLE" WITHIN THE MEANING OF STRICKLAND v. WASHINGTON, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Ineffective assistance of counsel resulted from the following errors:

a the decision to call as a defense witness the former state attorney who prosecuted this defendant, and counsel's failure to make any effort to determine what his testimony would be;

- b failure to discover and expose to the jury financial bias and exorbitant fees charges by the state's mental health expert;
- c failure on the part of Gore's court appointed defense counsel Udell to make any substantive decisions, and his total deference to volunteer defense co-counsel Nickerson;
- d failure to discover and present readily available witnesses who would testify to other mitigating circumstances including defendant's poor school performance, childhood medical records and possible neurologic disorders caused by long term exposure to toxic chemicals used in citrus agriculture;
- e failure to move the court to strike Juror Tobin for cause;
- f failure to propose an expanded jury instruction on the cold, calculating and premeditated aggravator.

#### $\mathbf{VI}$

GORE'S TWENTY THREE YEARS ON DEATH ROW WITHOUT RESOLUTION OF HIS CASE, DESPITE DILIGENT PURSUIT OF HIS RIGHTS, IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT WHICH REQUIRES HIS DEATH SENTENCE TO BE REDUCED TO LIFE

## VII

THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT REQUIRES INVALIDATION OF THE DEATH PENALTY BECAUSE, AS APPLIED, IT REMAINS AS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS AS THE DEATH PENALTY STATUTES STRICKEN FURMAN v. GEORGIA, 408 U.S. 238 (1972)

Defendant argues that the experience in Florida since reinstatement of the death penalty has not reduced its arbitrary application. Therefore, it unconstitutionally violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

#### **POINT I**

THE PROSECUTION KNOWINGLY ELICITED FALSE TESTIMONY REGARDING THE POSSIBILITY OF FUTURE PAROLE AND THEN FAILED TO CORRECT SUCH TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF GIGLIO v. UNITED STATES, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), AND NADUE v. ILLINOIS, 360 U.S. 264 (1959).

This Court has stated that "[u]nder *Giglio*, once a defendant has established that the prosecutor knowingly presented false testimony at trial, the State bears the burden to show that the false evidence was not material." *Guzman v. State*, 868 So.2d 498, 507 (Fla. 2003). The *Guzman* Court further found that:

... the proper question under *Giglio* is whether there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the court's judgment as the factfinder in this case. If there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the judgment, a new trial is required. The State bears the burden of proving that the presentation of the false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id. at 507-508.

Prior to his re-sentencing proceeding, Gore's counsel moved the trial court to tell the jury that the sentencing alternatives were either a death sentence or a life sentence without the possibility of parole. R 4946-4956. He contended that jurors are more likely to recommend death when they believe there is a possibility of the

defendant's eventual release. Defense counsel argued that the Eighth Amendment requires "truth in sentencing," and that Gore's jury needed to understand the sentencing alternatives. R 4948. Defense counsel further argued that Gore, in effect, was facing a life sentence without possibility of parole because he could not live long enough to serve out all of his consecutive sentences, reiterating that "we're relying on the Eighth Amendment in truth in sentencing." R 4952. In response, the state told the trial judge:

The fact of the matter is, that after serving twenty-five calendar years under the statute as it is today, this man would be eligible for parole under this crime.

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

But as far as this case is concerned, under the law as it is today, he is eligible for parole after twenty-five years; that is the law. And they are not being honest with you when they tell you that under the statute or under this crime, he can not be eligible for parole.

R 4954, 4956.

The trial court, persuaded by the prosecutor's argument, denied the defendant's motion in limine. R 4955.

When the defense presented to jurors the alternative of a life sentence without mentioning parole eligibility, R 971, the state objected: "Judge, I will object and ask you to require the Defense attorney to say life without possibility of parole after 25 years which is the lawful sentence." R 972. In response, the

defense argued that it was neither appropriate nor accurate to instruct the jury about the possibility of parole within 25 years. R 972. The trial court ruled:

I'll sustain the objection consistent with the Court's the sentence is the first degree murder of Florida that you first live in prison without possibility of parole for 25 years. That's what we're here, sentence for first degree not murder not even that may have been. I'll sustain the objection.

R 973.

[While there may well be flaws in the trial transcript, it is clear that the trial court sustained the state's objection.]

The state later re-emphasized this point to the jury:

MR. COLTON [prosecutor]: The point is do y'all understand that unlike what Mr. Udell [defense counsel] was saying that he would receive life, that the sentence is not life. The sentence is life without eligibility for parole until 25 years, do you understand that?

THE PANEL: Yes.

R 1665.

At the time of the underlying murder and Gore's original prosecution in 1983, the State Attorney who actively participated in the prosecution of both Gore and his co-defendant, Freddy Waterfield, was Robert Stone, Esq. By the time of the penalty retrial in November 1992, he was in private practice. (CP 823, 824).

Without ever having deposed or even interviewed him, defense counsel called Mr. Stone to testify with regard to sentencing standards at the penalty retrial. In contrast, the state prosecutor had met with Mr. Stone prior to his taking the stand in order to discuss several issues, including Gore's possibilities for parole on sentences imposed for the other crimes in this case. CP 825, 826. During cross examination, in response to a prosecution question about Defendant's potential parole on the life sentences for kidnapping and sexual battery, Mr. Stone testified as follows:

- Q. Let's break that down, Mr. Stone. Basically, are you saying that of the life sentence it adds up to basically one life sentence followed by another life sentence?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. Two live [sic] sentences?
- A. Two life sentences.
- Q. And he is subject to parole; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. When could he receive parole?
- A. I guess any time.
- Q. Who is that up to?
- A. Probation and Parole Commission

- Q. All right. People in Tallahassee?
- A. Seven member board in Tallahassee.

R 3203.

At the charge conference, Gore again unsuccessfully moved that the trial court not instruct the jury on parole eligibility in 25 years, arguing that, given his other life sentences, a life sentence here was tantamount to life without parole. R 3273-3278, 4409. Defense counsel further moved that the state not be allowed to argue parole eligibility after 25 years to the jury, noting:

MR. NICKERSON: Yes, Judge. At – at the beginning of this proceeding we indicated to the Court that the reality here is that with Mr. Gore's other sentences in the other cases, that a life sentence here in consideration with those other sentences, in consideration with the other offenses for which he was convicted in this case that a life – that a life verdict here would mean true life. Simply because when you run all of the sentences together, when you consider Mr. Gore's chronological age, he is not going to walk out of any penal institution in the State of Florida. And this instruction addresses that. And that's why it states life imprisonment.

THE COURT: The State, Mr. Barreira or Mr. Morgan?

MR. BARREIRA: Yes, Your Honor, I'll handle it. The law is that it's, the two options are life with a minimum mandatory 25 years and death. Those are the two legal options. If he wants to argue to the jury as a practical matter life here is going to mean life, that's – he's free to do that. But the law is that the other option is life with a minimum mandatory of 25.

MR. NICKERSON: I would ask that the State of Florida, as we asked in the beginning of these proceedings, be precluded from making the argument that Mr. Gore could be paroled after 25 years, or the first opportunity for consideration of parole would be years, for the reasons that we've previously stated.

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