#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID A. GORE,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 04-1458

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO.0656879
1515 N. Flagler Dr.
SUITE 900
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401
OFFICE: (561) 837-5000

FACSIMILE: (561) 837-5108

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Dr. Joseph Napp, is a professor emeritus with the Ecology
Department at the University of Florida. His work at the
University of Florida was to evaluate the efficacy of pesticides

on Florida citrus. He was also charged with making recommendations to the State of Florida for all pesticides used on Florida citrus. (PCR 922). Dr. Napp testified that there has never been a reported case of arsenic poisoning using lead arsenic on Florida citrus or any documented health problems associated with lead arsenate; there has been no case of a reported long-term effect associated with use of organo phosphates; and there has been no reported case of long-term effects associated with Caldane, a pesticide from the orango chlorine pesticide that was used on Florida citrus. (PCR 913-914, 930-931). Thousands of people like appellant were similarly exposed to these pesticides. (PCR 932-933).

Udell testified that he would be very surprised if Nickerson had not obtained Gore's school and childhood medical records. He also noted the defense experts discussed reviewing the school and medical records and had access to Gore's family. (PCR 785, 812-814). Nickerson spent a bulk of time trying to discover Gore's life history and became close to Gore's parents during the process. (PCR 785). Udell participated in the discussion about Gore's background, but the issue of pesticide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Again Gore's failure to call Nickerson is fatal to his claim. Without Nickerson, Gore is unable to prove that the records were not obtained for the 1992 resentencing especially in light of the testimony that Nickerson did a thorough investigation and the defense experts had school and medical records (PCR 812-814).

exposure and its possible reflection in the medical records was not raised. (PCR 816-818). If Nickerson knew of pesticide exposure, he did not discuss it with Udell. He also emphasized that there was an advantage of having a case remanded for resentencing because now a lawyer has the benefit of hindsight and can assess what strategies worked and did not work previously. (PCR 816-818).

Udel also explained that in Gore's case, extensive mitigation was presented stemming from his family life, Waterfield's bad influence, alcohol use, divorce and separation from his children, intercession on his sister's behalf when Waterfield attempted to rape her, Gore's convulsions as a baby and high fevers as a child, and Waterfield's term of years sentence compared to the State seeking death for Gore. (PCR 809-While Udell speculated the pesticide issue could have been presented even though there was no connection between the chemical exposure and the crimes, this 28 year veteran capital attorney noted that creating arguments that make little sense to the jury or could be viewed as "lawyer talk", should be done with caution as the jury may punish the defense for such arguments. (PCR 816-818).

In sum Gore's evidentiary presentation did not provide any evidence that established this alleged toxicity to pesticides.

The state asserts that the court's findings that, "[t]his

claim is completely meritless and unproven and warrants no further discussion by this court", is completely supported by the record recounted above and therefore must be affirmed. Ironically Gore faulted penalty phase counsel presenting this pesticide toxicity defense, yet he too did not present any evidence that his childhood ailments were caused by pesticides, or that such alleged exposure played any role in the kidnappings, rapes, and murder committed in this case. was denied properly. See Holland v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S792 (Fla. November 10 2005) (recognizing the maxim that there can be no finding of deficient performance for failing to investigate or present mitigation evidence unless the defendant establishes that mitigation exists.); see also Gore v. State, 846 So. 2d 461, 469-70 (Fla. 2003) (holding, in part, that defendant failed to prove his ineffectiveness claim by failing to present any evidence at the evidentiary hearing from witnesses he claimed would be helpful); Cf Gilliam v. State, 817 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 2002) (upholding denial of relief where court found expert's testimony to be deserving of little weight); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2000) (upholding trial court's rejection of expert opinion as speculative given that experts were unfamiliar with significant facts of the crime).

Moreover, although Nickerson was not called as a witness to discuss whether he considered "acute pesticide toxicity" as a

penalty phase theory of mitigation, the record below as well as the record on appeal, establish that the investigation that was conducted was constitutionally adequate. Unlike the facts of Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003), where counsel conducted no investigation, Nickerson did conduct a thorough review of his background, including obtaining school and medical records (PCR 785, 812-815). Counsel did investigate Gore's history and in fact presented eight family members two psychiatrists, Dr. Macaluso and Dr. Maher. 12

The specific subject matters presented as mitigation were;

1) co-defendant Freddie Waterfield's pathological influence on
Gore and Waterfield's disproportionate sentence; 2) Gore grew up
in an impoverished environment, and suffered numerous maladies
such as convulsions, high fevers and sever headaches; 3) Gore's
father was an alcoholic who was very abusive; 4) Gore suffered
from depression after the break-up of his marriages and loss of
custody of his children; 5) Gore also suffered from alcoholism,
and a personality disorder, all of which contributed to his
actions at the time of the crimes and prompted the psychiatrists
to testify that the statutory mental health mitigators were

<sup>12</sup> Dr. Maher, testified that Gore's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired at the time of the offense and that he was suffering from extreme emotional and mental disturbance. (ROA 2881-2882). Dr. Macaluso, an expert in addictive behavior found that Gore was intoxicated at the time of the crime and the family history of chemical dependency was pervasive. history. (ROA 3053-3060).

satisfied in this case.

The mental health experts reviewed prior evaluations, psychological screening reports, DOC files, school records, police reports interviewed family members, read depositions of certain witness. (ROA 2696-3174). Nickerson's investigation, preparation, and ultimate presentation establish that Gore received constitutionally adequate representation. See Davis v. State, 915 So. 2d 95, 112-19 (Fla. 2005) (finding counsel's investigation into defendant's background, family history, and records was effective assistance as counsel's investigation was meaningful); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 985 (Fla. 2000). See Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1996)(holding disagreement with trial counsel's choice of strategy does not establish ineffective assistance of counsel); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995)(concluding standard is not how current counsel would have proceeded in hindsight); Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 486 (Fla. 1998); Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 2000)(same).

Moreover, no prejudice has been shown because even if Gore was given a mitigator of exposure to pesticides as a child, the sentencing result would not be different especially in light of the six strong aggravating factors here. This is especially true in light of the lack of evidence supporting mental health mitigation. Cf. Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 216 (rejecting

ineffectiveness claim for failure to object to hearsay where testimony was only marginally relevant to bulk of aggravators). Likewise, the strength of the aggravation would outweigh the questionable mental heath mitigation which speculatively could have been found in the absence of Dr. Cheshire's testimony. The strong aggravation in this case included: (1) Gore was under sentence of imprisonment at time of murder; (2) prior violent felony; (3) felony murder; (4) avoid arrest; (5) heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (6) cold, calculated, and premeditated. Gore, 706 So. 2d at 1333-34. In fact, in rejecting the mitigation, the trial court noted the complete lack of any evidence of intoxication. In fact Gore's actions were deliberate. (ROA 4570-4572). Hence, Gore has not carried his burden under Strickland. Relief must be denied.

Next appellant alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge for cause Juror Tobin. Summary denial of this claim is warranted for numerous reasons. First of all although the issue as pled was legally insufficient, the trial court granted appellant a hearing on same. (PCR 701). As noted above, appellant did not offer any evidence in support of this claim. Consequently relief was denied properly.

On appeal, appellant adds the single phrase that Tobin was unfit for jury duty because he would not amenable to considering impoverished childhood as mitigation. Initial brief 82.

Summary denial is still warranted as the claim is legally insufficient as pled. LeCroy  $\underline{\text{supra}}$ .

In any event, the record rebuts any notion that appellant was prejudiced for counsel's failure to have Tobin stricken for As noted above, because counsel did not preserve the issue for appellate review, this Court refused to address the However irrespective of the fact that it was not reviewed, appellant cannot prevail on this claim because he cannot establish prejudice under Strickland. Because this Court has already determined that review was not warranted because the alleged error did not go to the heart of the case, there can be no finding of prejudice under Strickland. In other words, but for trial counsel's omission/failure to preserve the issue for review, a reasonable probability does not exist that the outcome of the trial would have been different. Consequently appellant cannot meet his burden under the prejudice prong of Strickland. White v. State, 559 2d 1097, 1099-1100 See So. 1990)(rejecting ineffective assistance of counsel regarding counsel's failure to preserve issues for appeal in postconviction appeal based on earlier finding by court on direct appeal that unpreserved alleged errors would constitute fundamental error). Because appellant cannot establish prejudice the claim can be summarily denied. Kennedy v State, 547 So. 2d 912, 914 (Fla. 1989).

In any event, the record refutes Gore's allegation that Tobin would have been excused for cause had the motion been Tobin stated that he would not form an opinion regarding made. his recommendation until he heard all of the evidence. 962). He stated that he would be fair and impartial and would follow the law as instructed by the court. (ROA 496, 499, 543). He also expressed positive feelings towards appellant's proposed mitigation. Tobin stated he would keep an open mind to any psychiatric testimony (ROA 1137), and he further stated that he had been exposed to a relationship where one person had an unnatural influence over another. (ROA 1137). Appellant cannot demonstrate that Tobin was an objectionable juror. Based on these responses and the applicable case law, a challenge for cause would not have been granted. See Lusk v. State, 446 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 873, 105 S. Ct. 229, 83 L. Ed. 2d 158 (1984)(defining an impartial juror as someone who "can lay aside any prejudices or biases he may have and render a verdict solely on the evidence."). A challenge for cause is not appropriate simply because a person has a strong opinion about any particular subject. See Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1983) (ruling that strong feelings in favor of the death penalty do not render a prospective juror incompetent in capital cases). As long as jurors indicate that they are able to abide by the court's instructions, irrespective

of personal feelings, a cause As challenge need not be granted.

Penn v. State, 574 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1991). Relief was denied properly.

Appellant also alleges that the trial counsel erred in failing to properly object to the "cold, calculated and premeditated" jury instruction. Gore claims that this Court found the instruction given herein was constitutionally deficient and therefore the "error" undermines confidence in his sentence. The trial court summarily denied this claim finding it to be procedurally barred and in the alternative without merit, as appellant cannot establish prejudice. (PCR 701-702).

Summary denial is warranted as Gore cannot establish the requisite prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. This Court determined the following on direct appeal:

Even though the case was tried prior to this Court's decision in Jackson v. State, 648 2d 85 (Fla. 1994), the State also expanded CCP instruction. requested an Defense counsel objected to the expanded instruction but once again declined explain how the instruction could be changed to meet his objection. The CCP instruction ultimately given n10 incorporated some but not all of the provisions of instruction suggested in Jackson or the current standard criminal jury instruction on CCP. Assuming, without deciding, that the CCP instruction as given was inadequate, we convinced that any error in instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of CCP as well as the other circumstances of the case.

Gore, 706 So. 2d at 1334. Whether the instruction was inadequate, a finding not made by this Court, the existence of the this factor was established beyond a reasonable doubt. Gore is not entitled to relief. In fact this Court recounted the evidence in support of this factor as follows:

As to the CCP finding, the facts of this case clearly support this aggravator. The evidence showed that Gore had planned in advance to both kidnap and kill Elliott and Martin. Gore repeatedly threatened to kill the two girls throughout the ordeal. He told Regan Martin that he was "going to do it anyway" as he was sexually assaulting her, and this occurred before Elliott was killed. That statement illustrates the heightened degree of premeditation necessary to sustain the CCP aggravator. The fact that the actual murder may have taken place earlier than Gore had planned it does not change this result.

Id at 1335. Summary denial was proper.

### ISSUE VI

WHETHER APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH SHOULD BE REDUCED TO LIFE BECAUSE HE HAS BEEN ON DEATH ROW TWENTY-TWO YEARS

Gore contends that his sentence of death has become a cruel and unusual punishment because of the length of time he has served on death row. Gore has been on death row for twenty-two years, which he contends should entitle him to a life sentence. He acknowledges that this Court has rejected similar arguments, when the length of time has been eighteen years. See Hitchcock v. State, 673 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1996). However, he argues, "Although this Court has found 18 years did not rise to the level of cruel and unusual punishment, some period of time must do so." Initial brief at 88. This claim must be denied.

First, Gore never raised this argument below, consequently appellate review is prohibited. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 906 (Fla. 1990)(precluding review of issue on appeal as appellant did not raise the specific argument below). Second, this Court has repeatedly refused to find a "per se" rule that a certain period of time on death row will automatically be considered an Eighth Amendment violation. See Parker v. State, 873 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 2004)(rejecting claim that eighteen years on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment); Rose v. State, 787 So. 2d 786, 805 (Fla. 2001)(rejecting claim that twenty-four years on death row amounts to cruel and unusual

punishment); Lucas v. State, 841 So. 2d 380, 389 (Fla. Fla.
2003); Foster v. State, 810 So. 2d 910, 916 (Fla. 2002); Elledge
v. State, 911 So. 2d 57, 77 (Fla. 2005). Relief must be denied.

### ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT DENIED PROPERLY APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE TO FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE

Appellant claims that Florida's death penalty statute is arbitrary and capricious and therefore is unconstitutional as applied. The state argued below that the issue was procedurally barred as it should have been raised on direct appeal. The trial court found the claim to be without merit. (PCR 703).

The state asserts that the issue was barred and review was precluded. However, irrespective of that, summary denial was appropriate. First of all, the claim as presented on direct appeal is legally insufficient as pled. Appellant alleges that Gore has been represented by nine different attorneys over the past twenty-two years. Initial brief at 92. The state asserts that this argument is insufficient and does not warrant further review.

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